BIOLOGICAL EMBEDDING OF CHILD MALTREATMENT

BIOLOGICAL EMBEDDING OF CHILD MALTREATMENT: A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF BIOMARKERS AND RESILIENCE IN CHILDREN AND YOUTH

By TAYLOR NELLES-MCGEE, B.MUS., HON. B.SC.

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science

McMaster University © Copyright by Taylor Nelles-McGee, February 2021

MASTER OF SCIENCE (2021) (Neuroscience Graduate Program) McMaster University Hamilton, Ontario

TITLE: Biological Embedding of Child Maltreatment: A Systematic Review of Biomarkers and

Resilience in Children and Youth

AUTHOR: Taylor Nelles-McGee B.Mus., Hons. B.Sc (The Glenn Gould School/Thompson

Rivers University, York University)

SUPERVISOR: Dr. A. Gonzalez, Ph.D.

NUMBER OF PAGES: x, 44

LAY ABSTRACT

Child maltreatment is a serious problem linked to poor mental and physical health outcomes. The mechanisms of these links are not always clear, however biological changes observed in some maltreated individuals may play a role. Here, we systematically review literature related to two biomarkers of interest in maltreated children, telomere length and DNA methylation. Findings are varied; however, overall, they support an association between child maltreatment and changes in both biomarkers. We additionally discuss factors that may confer resilience related to these changes to highlight potential targets for future study and interventions.

ABSTRACT

Objective: Child maltreatment (CM) is a widespread problem associated with poor mental and physical health outcomes. The underlying mechanisms of this link are not always well understood, however certain biological changes observed in maltreated individuals may play a role in connecting experience and outcome. This review specifically focuses on two markers of biological embedding, DNA methylation (DNAm) and telomere length (TL) in maltreated children and youth. As biomarker changes are not uniform among maltreated children, we additionally discuss biological and environmental resilience factors that may contribute to variability. Methods: We conducted a systematic review of Medline, Embase and PsycInfo databases for studies examining DNAm and/or TL in maltreated children and youth. Methodological quality of the included articles was assessed using the Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN) checklists for cohort studies and randomized control trials. Data extraction focused on various factors including population and CM (type, chronicity, severity, and duration) characteristics. Results: The initial search returned 1,688 non-duplicate results, with 417 full text articles reviewed. Twenty-six articles from 16 studies were ultimately included of which 8 examined telomere length and 18 examined DNA methylation. Conclusions: While some heterogeneity of findings was found, evidence supports differential changes in both biomarkers associated with CM. This review enhances understanding of the constellation of biological changes related to CM and consideration of the important role of resilience factors in mitigating risk. Elucidating these factors may highlight targets for future study and intervention development.

Keywords: child maltreatment, telomere length, epigenetics, methylation, resilience

iv

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Andrea Gonzalez for her patience, knowledge, and guidance over the course of this project and my time at McMaster. She has nurtured an incredibly welcoming, collaborative, and inspiring lab environment, and it has been a privilege to count myself among the members of the STRoNG Families team. To my committee, Dr. Melissa Kimber, Dr. Terry Bennett, and Dr. Benicio Frey, I am deeply grateful for your guidance, flexibility, and support. I would additionally like to acknowledge the contributions of Meghan Kenny, Dr. Jennifer Khoury, and Dr. Divya Joshi, without whom this project would not have been possible. To Zoe Weidman, thank you for following me into the weeds. To Jen, Krysta, and Madeleine, thank you for being my sounding boards, and so generous with your wisdom and friendship. To my Hawthorne friends, my family, and my partner Zach Bines, you are the support system everybody deserves, and I am profoundly grateful to walk beside you. Finally, my gratitude to Henrietta Lacks, whose story first sparked my interest in telomeres. Your contributions to modern medicine and telomere science cannot be overstated, and you deserved more.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TITLE PAGE	i
DESCRIPTIVE NOTE	ii
LAY ABSTRACT	iii
ABSTRACT	iv
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	v
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES	viii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	ix
DECLARATION OF ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT	x
Introduction	1
Telomere Length	2
Epigenetics – DNA methylation	3
The Present Review	4
Methods	5
Results	6
Study Characteristics	6
Telomere Length Institutionalized Populations	8 8
Maltreatment	9
DNA Methylation	11
Institutional Rearing – Epigenome-Wide Associations	11
Institutional Rearing - Candidate Gene Analyses	12
Maltreatment – Epigenome-Wide Studies	12
Maltreatment - Candidate Gene Analyses	14
Horvath and Hannum Epigenetic Clocks	17
Discussion	25
Resilience	26
Conclusion	29
References	31
Appendix	39

Appendix A: Gene Functions and Associations	39
Appendix B: Socioeconomic Status Measures	41
Appendix References	42

LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

FIGURES

Figure 1.	PRISMA Diagram
-----------	----------------

TABLES

Table 1.Search Terms

- **Table 2.**Study Characteristics
- Appendix A. Gene Functions and Associations

Appendix B. Socioeconomic Status Measures

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ALSPAC	Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children
BEIP	Bucharest Early Intervention Project
BMI	Body Mass Index
CEA	Child emotional abuse
СМ	Child maltreatment
CPA	Child physical abuse
CpG	Cytosine Guanine site
CSA	Child sexual abuse
DMR	Differentially methylated region
DNAm	DNA methylation
EWAS	Epigenome-wide association study
FSIQ	Full Scale Intelligence Quotient
IPV	Intimate partner violence
QA	Quality assessment
RCT	Randomized controlled trial
SES	Socioeconomic status
SIGN	Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network
TL	Telomere length

DECLARATION OF ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT

Taylor Nelles-McGee:

- Conceptualization (co-lead)
- Project administration (lead)
- Investigation (lead)
- Formal analysis (lead)
- Manuscript preparation original draft (lead)
- Review and editing (co-lead)

Jennifer Khoury:

- Conceptualization (supporting)
- Methodology (supporting)
- Resources (supporting)
- Editing (supporting)

Meghan Kenny:

- Conceptualization (supporting)
- Resources (supporting)

<u>Divya Joshi</u>:

- Conceptualization (supporting)
- Editing (supporting)

Andrea Gonzalez:

- Supervision (lead)
- Conceptualization (co-lead)
- Review and editing (co-lead)

Introduction

The ramifications of child maltreatment (CM) are serious and far reaching, affecting over 300 million children annually worldwide (Butchart et al., 2006). The World Health Organization recognizes four domains of CM, including physical, sexual and emotional abuse, and neglect (Butchart et al., 2006). Due to the frequency with which exposure to intimate partner violence (IPV) co-occurs with CM types and its documented negative effects on children, many researchers include IPV exposure as an additional CM subtype (Hamby et al., 2010). A 2014 meta-analysis by Stoltenborgh et al. found high prevalence of CM, ranging from 163/1000 to 363/1000 when assessed via self-report, and 3/1000 to 4/1000 when assessed via informantreport, depending on CM type (Stoltenborgh et al., 2014). These findings indicate that cases of CM substantiated through child welfare services grossly underrepresent true prevalence globally (Stoltenborgh et al., 2014; Cicchetti & Toth, 2005). Most children experiencing CM will experience more than one type (Hamby et al., 2010). Stoltenborgh and colleagues (2014) indicate a significant gap in the literature regarding published prevalence rates of concurrent CM types, despite this significant evidence that CM types often co-occur. Several factors have been associated with increased risk of CM. Low socioeconomic status (SES), parents with substance use disorders or mental health challenges, and parents who have been maltreated themselves are among several factors that increase risk of CM (Butchart et al., 2006).

CM has been associated with a variety of poor mental and physical health outcomes in childhood and across the lifespan (Hughes et al., 2017; Ridout et al., 2018). Elucidating the mechanisms that link CM to adverse health outcomes is an ongoing effort, however biological changes observed in some maltreated individuals may be salient factors in the association. Many researchers consider biological changes in maltreated individuals as evidence that early

experience "gets under the skin" – a phenomenon referred to as biological embedding (Berens et al., 2017). Two biomarkers that have been shown to demonstrate changes in normal function related to CM are telomere length (TL) and DNA methylation (DNAm). Both biomarkers are associated with the negative downstream physical and mental health effects of CM exposure, and thus show promise as mediators of experience and outcome. It is important to note that not all children who are maltreated will experience negative outcomes or biological changes. Understanding what makes some individuals resilient to negative outcomes or biological embedding, can provide valuable insight into factors that may help break the cycle of CM, mitigate risk, and maximize wellbeing for maltreated children. This review focuses on two biomarkers of CM, telomere length (TL) and DNA methylation (DNAm).

Telomere Length

Telomeres are non-coding DNA sequences at the ends of chromosomes that act as a buffer to protect coding genomic information during cell division (Frenck et al., 1998). Over a lifetime, they shorten at an expected rate as cells divide. When they become critically short, they enter senescence or undergo apoptosis (Frenck et al., 1998). Length is typically correlated to chronological age, disease morbidity and mortality, and plays a causal role in aging cells, which is unique compared to other biomarkers (Ridout et al., 2018). Telomere shortening is a natural and necessary process, but issues begin to arise if it is accelerated. TL is influenced by biological stress and inflammation and accelerated shortening has been associated with certain types of adverse experience (Colich et al., 2020). When telomeres are shortened prematurely, cellular age becomes incongruous with chronological age (Ridout et al., 2018). Given that telomere shortening often precedes chronic disease development and is associated with negative mental

and physical health outcomes, it may represent a mechanism connecting early adversity and later health; however, the evidence relating TL to maltreatment is mixed.

Epigenetics – DNA methylation

The first step in gene expression is the copying of genetic information from DNA in a process called transcription. Transcription begins at specific sites along a gene sequence called transcription start sites. DNAm is an epigenetic process that acts primarily on cytosine-guanine (CpG) sites that are typically located near transcription sites (Cecil et al., 2020; Horvath & Raj, 2018). These CpG sites are usually unmethylated to allow transcription factors to bind to the DNA sequence and activate gene expression. When they become methylated, transcription factor binding is impeded. This subsequently affects gene activity by depressing or activating gene expression. While DNAm is an important and natural part of epigenetic processes, it can be upor down-regulated as a result of experience. Exposure to chronic stress, poor diet, disease, and various adversities has been linked to changes in methylation levels (Cecil et al., 2020). DNAm is a well-studied biomarker of CM exposure, however the literature includes variable findings, in part due to varying study designs that examine epigenome-wide methylation, methylation in candidate genes, or both (Cecil et al., 2020). Epigenome-wide assessment studies (EWAS) examine DNAm levels across the genome to identify global differences in methylation and specific differentially methylated regions (DMRs). Candidate gene analyses examine methylation in specific genes of interest typically associated with mental and physical health.

An additional type of DNAm assessment, and a fairly recent concept in epigenetic research, is the Epigenetic Clock. Epigenetic Clock models suggest that there are sets of fixed DNAm markers that can be used to estimate chronological age with a high degree of accuracy (Hannum et al., 2013; Horvath & Raj, 2018). This measurement is called the epigenetic age, and

as with accelerated telomere shortening, can become incongruous with chronological age in some circumstances (Hannum et al., 2013; Horvath & Raj, 2018). It is unique to other DNAm assessments, as EWAS and candidate gene studies do not provide an epigenetic age measurement.

Though changes to both biomarkers have been associated with CM, there is also evidence to suggest that certain biological and environmental factors may confer resilience to these changes, and that DNAm may even be reversible in some cases (Cecil et al., 2020). Given the link between these potential biomarkers of CM and disease morbidity and mortality, elucidating factors that may confer resilience to these biological changes is imperative in improving outcomes for maltreated children and youth.

The Present Review

Heterogeneity in the CM literature related to TL and DNAm poses a distinct challenge in elucidating the effects of early adversity on biology, and the possibility that these biomarkers may represent causal links between adversity and outcome (Colich et al., 2020). Adversity is a broad concept, and often lacks a common taxonomy. Differences in adversity reporting, use of measurement tools, and varying timing of exposure and assessment collectively creates a muddied landscape from which it is difficult to define clear associations. A 2020 review by Colich et al. outlined the links between threat and deprivation, indicating TL and DNAm age as indices of biological age acceleration across the lifespan. More specifically, exposure to threat was significantly associated with accelerated biological age, whereas experiences of deprivation were not (Colich et al., 2020). Importantly, this review used a broad definition of adversity and studies measuring DNAm outside the context of an epigenetic clock model were excluded (Colich et al., 2020).

The present review extends prior work by examining the specific link between CM and TL and DNAm. As our focus is biological embedding of CM, we will include studies that assess DNAm age as well as those that examine global methylation and candidate gene effects in participants under the age of 18. Factors that may mitigate risk are discussed using Bronfenbrenner's socioecological framework for human development. This model provides a nested framework for understanding the impact of various internal and external factors and their interactions on child development (Bronfenbrenner & Morris, 2006). We aim to clarify some of the heterogeneity of findings and identify areas for future investigation.

Methods

To identify studies relevant to CM and biological aging in children and youth, a systematic review was conducted using PRISMA guidelines (see Figure 1). A search of Embase, Medline, and PsycInfo databases was conducted using search terms and strategy outlined in Table 1. The search was run through to May 15, 2020. Review articles were manually searched for additional inclusions.

To meet inclusion criteria, studies must have been written in or translated to English and examine TL and/or DNAm before the age of 18 in human children and youth with a history of CM. Retrospective studies examining these biomarkers in adults who experienced CM as children were excluded. CM was defined as sexual, physical, or emotional abuse, neglect, and exposure to IPV. Studies that examined other adversities but did not specifically parse out CM or its subtypes were excluded. All articles were assessed by two reviewers to ensure inclusion criteria were met. Conflicts were resolved via discussion, and outside input by the senior author as needed.

For the purposes of understanding potential resilience factors, special attention was paid to extraction of family and parenting characteristics, socioeconomic information, and other relevant aspects. Depending on study design, all included papers were assessed for quality using the Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN) checklist for cohort studies (n=22) or the SIGN checklist for randomized control trials (n=4). Quality assessment was carried out by the first author and verified by the second reviewer. Most studies did not include follow up periods, thus, SIGN checklist questions around outcome presence at time of enrolment and adequacy of follow up period did not apply and were not assessed.

Table 1.

Search Terms

CN	1 terms	Telo	omere terms	DNA Methylation terms		
1	exp child abuse/ or exp child abuse, sexual/	8	telomer*.tw	13	((DNA) adj3 (methyl*)).tw	
2	exp Child, Abandoned/	9	Biomarker.tw	14	epigenetic.tw	
3	exp Shaken Baby Syndrome/	10	((telomer* attrition) or (telomer* length) or (telomer* adj3 erosion) or (cell* age) or (cell* aging)).tw	15	((glucocort* adj3 (receptor)).tw	
4	((child* or infant* or toddler* or early or early-life or preschool* or pre- school* or youth* or preteen*) adj5 (abus* or maltreat* or depriv* or (intimate partner violence) or (intimate partner abuse) or (domestic abuse) or (domestic violence) or stress or neglect* or rape? or raping or molest* or (sex* adj2abus*))).tw	11	or/8-10	16	(methylome).tw	
5	((Child maltreatment) or (child neglect)).tw	12	6 and 7 and 11	17	or/13-16	
6	or/1-5			18	6 and 7 and 17	
7	(infan* or newborn* or new-born* or neonat* or baby or babies or child* or youth or toddler* or pre-school* or preteen* or early-life or adolescen*).tw					

Results

Study Characteristics

Following full text review, 26 articles from 16 studies were included (see Figure 1). Of

these, eight examine TL and 18 examine DNAm. Papers were published between 2012 and 2020.

Most papers were published in the United States (n=18), while the remainder were published in Europe, Brazil, Egypt, and Japan. Quality assessment using the SIGN checklist for cohort studies (n=22) and SIGN checklist for Randomized Control Trials (n=4) returned scores of 'Acceptable' quality or better for all inclusions (detailed results of quality assessment for all inclusions available as a supplementary table on request from the author). For the purposes of comparison and examining associations between CM and biological embedding in youth, we extracted cross sectional data at various time points from the included articles that collected longitudinal data (n=10) as indicated in Table 2.

Although inclusions were limited to samples <18 years old, a wide range of ages were represented in the included studies. TL samples varied from 3-5 years to 5-15 years old. DNAm samples varied from 8-35 months old to 6-20 years old. Socioeconomic status (SES) was evaluated in 15 papers using a variety of characteristics. SES measurement tools are described in Appendix B. Additional factors that have been associated with biomarker changes such as existing diagnoses, body mass index and low birthweight were assessed in a minority of studies (Table 2).

Telomere length was primarily assessed via buccal swab samples, although one study used saliva (Ridout et al., 2019) and one used a peripheral blood sample (Xavier et al., 2018). Buccal swabs (n=2), saliva samples (n=9), and blood samples (n=5), or a combination (n=2) were used in DNAm studies to assess methylation samples. DNAm measures included epigenome-wide assessments, methylation of individual candidate genes, and analyses using Horvath and Hannum epigenetic clock models (see Table 2). Functions of all included genes are described in Appendix A. CM exposure was assessed in one of three ways: 1) exposure to institutional care, 2) selfor parent-report measures, and 3) child welfare or protective services records. Three articles investigated the impact of institutional care on TL. One utilized a combination of protective services record review, semi-structured interview, and parent-report. Three used a variety of selfand parent-report measures. One article noted some history of welfare involvement from record review without further elaboration. DNAm papers (n=18) had equally varied CM assessments, including institutionalization records alone (n=3), protective services record review (n=3), selfand parent-report (n=5), and some combination (n=7).

CM measurement tools and subtypes varied significantly between studies. Many studies included additional adversity types (e.g., bullying, traumatic life events, parental death or incarceration). Most studies included at least sexual, physical, and emotional abuse and neglect as CM subtypes. Exposure to IPV was less commonly included. One TL study assessed IPV exposure only (Drury et al., 2014). Onset, duration, chronicity, and severity of CM were assessed in a minority of studies. When these characteristics were included, this was summarized in the findings (Table 2). Comprehensive details of study characteristics extracted from each paper is available as a supplementary table on request from the author.

Telomere Length

Institutionalized Populations

The Bucharest Early Intervention Project (BEIP) is a longitudinal randomized control trial that investigates the effects of early institutional rearing on child development, and tests quality foster care as an intervention (Zeanah et al., 2003). The ever-institutionalized group included children with a history of institutionalized care. These participants were randomized into care as usual and foster care groups. An additional control group with no history of

institutional care was included. Percent time in institutional care was assessed at multiple time points over the course of the study, and biological samples were obtained at the 8- and 12-year follow up timepoints. Using data from the BEIP, three articles focused on TL and institutionalization and found significant associations between length of time in institutional care and TL. Humphreys et al. (2016) reported a negative association between TL and percent time in institutional care at age eight in the care as usual group. Wade et al. (2020) did not find TL differences between care as usual or foster groups, or between the ever institutionalized and control groups, however when stratified by sex, amount of time spent in institutions by 54 months and eight years of age was negatively associated with TL at age 8-10 in boys. A similar effect was found in girls, where a higher percentage of time spent in institutions at baseline and 54 months of age was associated with shorter telomeres at age 12-14 (Wade et al., 2020). Drury et al. (2012) reported a significant negative association between percent time in institutional care at baseline and 54 months and TL, which remained significant when including group assignment and other covariates. When stratified by sex, TL was significantly associated with exposure to institutional care before baseline assessment but not at the 54-month assessment in females, however in male participants, percent institutionalization at 54-months but not at baseline was most predictive of TL in childhood (Drury et al., 2012). Taken together, these findings suggest that increased time in institutional care is associated with shorter telomeres, and that sex, age and length/onset of institutionalization play a moderating role in this association.

Maltreatment

The remaining five papers used subtypes of CM and composite scores to assess associations between CM and TL. In a study by Xavier et al. (2018) using a large sample of N = 561 from the Brazilian High-Risk Cohort study, a CM composite score comprised of physical

abuse, neglect, emotional maltreatment and sexual abuse was significantly associated with TL and moderated by sex such that the effect of CM on TL was only observed in males (Xavier et al., 2018). A smaller study compared a group of children with child welfare involvement (considered high-risk for CM) to children with no history of welfare involvement (low-risk for CM) and found that children in the high-risk group had significantly shorter telomeres than low-risk children (Asok et al., 2013). Contrary to these findings, a child welfare sample of children aged 3-5 years and with documentation of moderate to severe CM within the past six months had a strong positive correlation with TL (Ridout et al., 2019).

Studies investigating individual CM types indicate varied findings. In a study examining three types of violence exposure and TL in children from ages 5 to 10, only physical abuse was significantly associated with telomere shortening (Shalev et al., 2013). Exposure to IPV showed some association with telomere shortening, however this association was not statistically significant (Shalev et al., 2014). Notably, Shalev and colleagues reported telomere lengthening in a small number of participants between ages 5 and 10. Specifically, longer TL at age 10 was predicted by shorter TL at baseline (Shalev et al., 2013). In another study, children exposed to IPV demonstrated significantly more telomere shortening than unexposed children (Drury et al., 2014). This relationship remained significant after controlling for relevant covariates. When stratified by sex, a significant negative association between IPV and TL was found in girls, while the association met only trend level in boys (Drury et al., 2014). None of the included articles examined associations between TL and sexual abuse or emotional abuse specifically or neglect outside of institutional care. Overall, findings support an association between CM and TL shortening, however differences in CM types, age ranges, and other study characteristics make direct comparisons difficult.

DNA Methylation

Epigenome-wide associations test global methylation levels, while candidate gene assessments investigate methylation levels of specific genes. As highlighted earlier, epigenetic clock assessments provide a measure of accelerated cellular aging based on methylation levels. Five studies that examined epigenome-wide methylation additionally went on to discuss and/or examine specific genes of interest that emerged from their assessments.

Institutional Rearing – Epigenome-Wide Associations

Two papers examined effects of institutional rearing using EWAS. Several DMRs emerged that were linked to multiple genes. In an investigation using data from the English and Romanian Adoptee study, methylation differences between participants with extended (> 6 months) and limited (< 6 months) institutional care were compared. Initial probe-wise assessment of ~400,000 sites across the genome did not show differences between the groups; however, methylation differences in specific regions were highly correlated to exposure duration (Kumsta et al., 2016). A significant DMR on the CYP2E1 gene involved in fatty-acid metabolism was identified, which was hypermethylated in the extended institutional care group (Kumsta et al., 2016). Another epigenome-wide study comparing children in institutional care to children raised in biological families found 164 DMRs associated with 172 genes (Naumova et al., 2019). Several genes associated with immune function were among those identified: RB1, GNB1, ENO1, SOCS3, HSPA8, and MAPK14. Except for MAPK14, these were hypomethylated in the institutional care group. Examination of NRC31, a specific candidate gene related to regulation of the stress response, indicated seven hypermethylated CpGs and one hypomethylated CpG in the institutional care group (Naumova et al., 2019). These findings

suggest that institutional care in early life has significant differential methylation effects on genes related to critical somatic and stress-related processes.

Institutional Rearing - Candidate Gene Analyses

Using data from the BEIP, significant negative associations were found between percent time in institutional care and methylation patterns in stress-related genes *FKBP5* and *SLC6A4* at age 12, after accounting for covariates (Non et al., 2016). Methylation differences in the Oxytocin Receptor gene *OXTR* between maltreated and non-maltreated children was examined within an institutionalized context in Japan (Fujisawa et al., 2019). *OXTR* is implicated in social interactions, bonding, maternal behaviour, stress and anxiety. The CM group evidenced significantly higher methylation at CpG 5,6 of the OXTR gene than did the non-maltreated group. Sex and age were not associated with methylation at these sites (Fujisawa et al., 2019).

Maltreatment – Epigenome-Wide Studies

In the following studies, participants were considered maltreated or not, though parameters defining CM exposure as a criterion differed between studies. While some include all five subtypes, others used CM measures that include fewer than five subtypes as indicated.

Two papers from the same parent study examined genome-wide associations using the Illumina 450k BeadChip and included all subtypes in their CM assessment (Yang et al., 2013; Weder et al., 2014). One study found significant differences in methylation values of the CM group at 2868 CpG sites across all 23 chromosomes, after controlling for relevant demographic factors (Yang et al., 2013). These differences were found in several genes associated with biomarkers of disease risk, outlined in Table 2 (Yang et al., 2013). In the second study, differences in methylation values of maltreated and comparison children were significant at 11 sites after statistical correction within three genes that emerged from the EWAS as predictors of

depression: *ID3, TPPP*, and *GRIN1* (Weder et al., 2014). CpG sites in the promoter regions of *SLC6A4* and *NR3C1* are not included in the array used for assessment in both articles, so direct comparison to existing candidate gene findings that focus on promoter regions in these genes was not possible, however Yang et al. (2013) reported that one CpG site on the gene body of NR3C1 was significantly hypomethylated in maltreated children. Weder et al. (2014) also reported significantly different methylation at one site in NR3C1 in the CM group after corrections.

An additional two studies carried out EWAS using a CM measure that included all subtypes except exposure to IPV (Cicchetti et al., 2016; Seif et al., 2019). Cicchetti et al. found differential methylation patterns between maltreated and non-maltreated children at 1,876 CpG sites with a 6.2% mean difference between groups. Further analyses conducted to examine interactions between CM exposure and known disease biomarkers identified differentially methylated sites associated with mental health, cancer, cardiovascular systems, and immune function, suggesting that maltreated children are at greater risk for adverse physical and mental health outcomes associated with these methylation differences (Cicchetti et al., 2016). The second study stratified children by co-occurrence of CM subtypes, dividing groups into no CM, one type, two types, three types, or four types and found statistically significant differences in methylation between all five groups (Seif et al., 2019). Children who experienced three types of CM had the lowest mean methylation values. This was followed by children who experienced four types, and two types, with the highest mean methylation values measured in children exposed to one type of CM or no CM (Seif et al., 2019). When included CM types were assessed separately, level of DNAm was significantly correlated with physical abuse only (Seif et al., 2019). This paper additionally reported on a variety of CM experience

characteristics, including age of onset, frequency, and duration of exposure. Age of onset was significantly associated with methylation level, with lower methylation found in children exposed before the age of 9. Additionally, duration of CM exposure was significantly associated with methylation values, with shorter duration (1-3 years) predicting higher methylation values. Frequency was significantly and inversely associated with DNAm levels, with highest mean methylation in participants with a frequency of exposure of 1-2 times and lowest methylation in children exposed more than ten times. Using multivariate linear regression to examine interactions between CM, methylation, and CM characteristics, a significant association between duration and frequency of exposure and DNAm level was found (Seif et al., 2019). Taken together, these findings suggest CM is associated with differential methylation, and that experiencing multiple types of CM, more frequent CM, and CM over a longer period may amplify these effects. Additionally, methylation differences in genes associated with negative mental and physical health outcomes may contribute to risk of these outcomes for maltreated children.

Maltreatment - Candidate Gene Analyses

In studies that examined *NR3C1* methylation and utilized a CM assessment that included all subtypes except for exposure to IPV, three papers from the same parent study reported hypermethylation in one exon of *NR3C1* in the CM group only (Parade et al., 2016; Parent et al., 2017; Tyrka, 2015a). In another study, CM was associated with hypermethylation at one exon of *NRC31*. Additionally, early exposure, more CM types and chronic CM exposure was positively associated with *NRC31* methylation (Cicchetti & Handley, 2017). An additional study found no association between CM and methylation levels in maltreated and non-maltreated groups, however *NRC31* was hypermethylated in maltreated girls at two sites (Cicchetti et al., 2016). An

additional *NRC31* site showed a CM by race interaction, where maltreated children with African ancestry evidenced hypomethylation (Cicchetti et al., 2016).

Physical and emotional abuse and methylation in HPA-axis genes *NR3C1*, *POMC*, *CRH* and *AVP* were investigated via blood and saliva samples in a group of school children from Tanzania (Hecker et al., 2016). Due to high incidence of abuse exposure in the study population, a sufficiently sized control group with no history of abuse was not possible. As such, participants were instead divided into high- and low-exposure groups. Between groups, no clear difference in methylation levels was found for *NR3C1*, however four sites were found to be differently methylated with a moderate effect size in saliva only (Hecker et al., 2016). Differences in methylation between groups were not found in *CRH* or *AVP*, however the high-exposure group evidenced more methylation in *POMC* than the low-exposure group. In blood samples, one of the investigated CpG sites in *CRH* evidenced significant hypermethylation with a large effect size. In saliva, one of the investigated CpG sites in *CRH* evidenced significant hypermethylation with a medium effect size. No significant effects were found for *AVP* (Hecker et al., 2016).

Two studies examined the effects of physical maltreatment on *NRC31* methylation. Romens et al. (2015) reported a positive association between physical maltreatment and methylation at several CpG sites in *NRC31*. Van der Knaap et al. (2014) identified three amplicons of interest within the *NR3C1* promoter region. At amplicon 1, they found a positive association between single and repeat exposure to sexual abuse, as well as repeated exposure to physical abuse and DNAm (Van der Knapp et al., 2014). At amplicon two, single exposure to sexual abuse was associated with increased methylation, however in post-hoc analysis this finding was not replicated (Van der Knapp et al., 2014). While there was some variation in findings, hypermethylation of the *NRC31* gene in maltreated children was well supported overall.

Tyrka and colleagues examined methylation levels in candidate gene *FKBP5*, a gene implicated in stress response modulation, inflammation, and immune function (Tyrka et al., 2015b). This investigation considered all CM types except exposure to IPV in their assessment. At two CpG sites on *FKBP5*, maltreated children demonstrated significant hypomethylation (Tyrka et al., 2015b).

One study investigated DNAm in two genes associated with alcohol metabolism, mood and cognition, ALDH2 and ANKK1 (Cicchetti et al., 2016). All subtypes except exposure to IPV were included in the CM assessment. Significant associations were found between CM and hypermethylation on one site for each of the genes (Cicchetti et al., 2016). Further analyses were performed examining the effects of sex, race, and age of onset and recency of CM. Three distinct onset/recency combinations: early onset/recent, early onset/not recent, late onset/recent were created. Within the maltreated group, maltreated girls showed significant hypomethylation compared to non-maltreated girls at one site on ALDH2 (Cicchetti et al., 2016). At the same location, maltreated boys had significant hypermethylation compared to nonmaltreated boys. No significant differences were found among the non-maltreated group. Considering age at onset and recency of CM, significant hypermethylation at ALDH2 was found among boys with early onset, but not recent CM compared to boys with no CM history (Cicchetti et al., 2016). Girls had significant hypermethylation compared to boys at one ANKK1 site. Similarly, African ethnicity was correlated to higher methylation levels than non-African ethnicity. Maltreated children with early onset and not recent CM had significant hypermethylation compared to the control group (Cicchetti et al., 2016). Taken together, significant differences in methylation in candidate genes associated with a variety of mental and

physical health outcomes in children with a history of CM may demonstrate epigenetic risk factors for negative downstream effects.

Horvath and Hannum Epigenetic Clocks

Two included papers used data from the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children (ALSPAC) to investigate associations between CM and DNAm age using the Horvath and Hannum Epigenetic clock models. Both models provide an epigenetic age measurement based on expected vs. actual methylation levels at specific CpG sites. The Horvath clock uses 353 CpG sites, while the Hannum model uses 71 CpG sites identified through analysis of existing methylation data from healthy subjects. There are 6 common CpG sites between the models. Though they use different sites and different number of CpGs to evaluate epigenetic age, both models provide reliable age measures (Hannum et al., 2013; Horvath & Raj, 2018). In both papers, CM assessment included physical, sexual, and emotional abuse (Marini et al., 2020, Tang et al., 2020). Marini and colleagues assessed cumulative and timing effects of adversity by summing the total number of time periods in which a child experienced adversity and the total number of developmental periods in which adversity was experienced. Using Hannum's model and accounting for both recency and accumulation, exposure to sexual or physical abuse at 3.5 years was associated with epigenetic age acceleration (Marini et al., 2020). When considering child sex in this association, any type of abuse exposure was associated with increased epigenetic age in girls. The acceleration was quantified with the example that girls exposed to abuse in the 3.5-year sensitive period will experience epigenetic age acceleration of almost two months by age 7.5. No associations were found in this paper using the Horvath epigenetic clock (Marini et al., 2020). Tang et al. reported exposure to emotional or physical abuse before age 14 was associated with Horvath accelerated aging at age 17 in maltreated girls but not in boys. Abuse

was associated with an adjusted mean difference in DNAm age of 1.20 years for emotional abuse, and 1.22 years for physical abuse (Tang et al., 2020). Although these investigations reported effects using different epigenetic clock models, they produce compelling evidence that experience of abuse in combination with other factors may accelerate epigenetic aging processes in children exposed to maltreatment.

Figure 1.





Table 2.

Study Characteristics

Telomere Le	Telomere Length											
Study	Sample	Sample size	Age range & mean	Sex distribution	Race/ ethnicity	CM Type & Assessment	Biomarker sample	Variables	Main CM/biomarker findings			
(Wade et al., 2020) ^a	Data from the Bucharest Early Intervention Project, longitudinal RCT.	8-10 years: N=195 12-14 years: N=162	8-10 years: M= 8.68 12-14 years: M=13.04	8-10 years: 52.1% male 12-14 years: 51.8% male	69.23% Romanian 19.23% Roma, 11.43% Other, Unknown*	Institutional rearing, neglect/deprivation; assessed via record review	Buccal	Birthweight, sex, IQ, general, internalizing and externalizing psychopathology factors	Percent-time in institutional care at 54 months and 8 years was negatively associated with telomere length at age 8- 10 in boys, while percent time in institutional care at baseline and 54 months was negatively associated with telomere length at age 12-14 in girls.			
(Drury et al., 2012) ^a	Data from the BEIP; longitudinal RCT. Percent time in institutional care assessed at baseline and 54 months, TL assessed between ages 6-10.	N=100 with valid TL data	6-10 years	59% male	55.1% Romanian 44.9% Romanian, Other, Unknown	Institutional rearing, neglect/deprivation; assessed via record review	Buccal	Percent time in institution, gender, ethnicity, low birthweight, age at buccal swab collection	Percent time in institutional care was negatively associated with TL in middle childhood. Percent institutionalization at baseline but not 54 months was most predictive of shorter TL in girls, while the opposite was true in boys.			
(Asok et al., 2013)	Cross sectional study. Participants recruited from ongoing longitudinal RCT examining attachment-based intervention.	N=89	3.9-6.5 years (M=4.94)	53.5%	14.61% white 74.16% African American 5.62% Hispanic 5.62% Bi-racial	High-risk group was recruited through welfare services; some instances of child neglect & IPV in records	Buccal	Child age, child sex, minority status, household income, parental responsiveness	High-risk children evidenced significant telomere shortening compared to low- risk children. This association was moderated by responsive parenting.			
(Xavier et al., 2018)	Cross sectional study using data from prospective community school- based study (Brazilian High Risk Cohort).	N=561	6-12 years (M=10.19)	54.9%	not reported	Composite score encompassing CPA, CSA, CEA, neglect; self- and parent-report	Blood	Child age, sex, location, child behaviour and psychopathology	Telomere length was negatively associated with CM scores in boys but not girls.			

(Ridout et al., 2019) ^d	Longitudinal cohort study of families with and without documentation of moderate to severe CM in the past 6 months. Measures at baseline and repeated at 6-month follow-up.	N=256	3-5 years (M=51.1 months)	47.6%	54.69% non- Hispanic 44.92% Hispanic 0.39% unknown ethnicity; 39.06% white 16.02% black 22.26% biracial 19.53% other 2.73% unknown	Composite score encompassing CPA, CSA, CEA and neglect; assessed via child welfare record review, interview, parent-report	Saliva	Adversity composite, socioeconomic adversity, contextual stress, beta-hemoglobin, mtDNA copy number	CM was positively associated with telomere length at baseline and follow-up
(Shalev et al., 2013)	Prospective- longitudinal study; from the nationally representative Environmental-Risk Longitudinal Twin cohort study. Violence exposure assessed at age 5,7, and 10, TL assessed at age 5 and 10.	N=236	10 years, mean not provided	50.8%	100% Caucasian	IPV, physical maltreatment; assessed via parent- report	Buccal	Child age, Socioeconomic deprivation, BMI, Children's health, IPV, bullying victimization, CPA, violence exposure composite	CPA but not exposure to IPV was negatively associated with TL.
(Drury et al., 2014)	Cross-sectional cohort study.	N=80	5 to 15 years (M=10.2)	51%	94% African American 6% Other	Exposure to IPV; parent-report	Buccal	Child age and sex, maternal education and age at conception, race, and IPV	Exposure to IPV was negatively associated with TL. When stratified by sex, the association was significant in girls only.
(Humphreys et al., 2016) ^a	Data from the BEIP. Percent time in institutional care assessed at baseline and 54 months, TL assessed 2-4 times between ages 6-15 and summed to create two times.	N=79	Time 1: 6.40-9.13 years (M= 8.07) Time 2: 12.94-15.61 (M=14.41)	48.16%	64.48% Romanian, 35.52% other	Institutional rearing; record review	Buccal	FSIQ; Demographics (sex, ethnicity, initial/final age, mean follow-up length); percent time in institutional care	Children with a history of institutional care had significantly shorter telomeres than children with no institutional exposure.

DNA methylation											
Study	Sample	Sample size	Age range & mean	Sex distribution	Race/ ethnicity	CM type & Assessment	Biomarker sample type(s)	Variables	EWAS or Candidate genes	Main Findings	

(Seif et al., 2019)	Cross-sectional study; participants recruited from adolescent psychiatric outpatient clinics in Egypt.	N=90	12-18 years, mean not provided	61.1%	Not provided	CPA, CSA, CEA and neglect, number of types; self- report	Blood	Age, sex, CM characteristics – age of onset, duration, frequency of exposure	Global	Children exposed to more than one type of CM showed hypomethylation compared to no CM or children exposed to one type of CM. Significant associations between DNAm and age of onset, duration, and frequency.
(Kumsta et al., 2016)	Data from the English and Romanian Adoptees study.	N=49	15 years, range not provided	53.06%	Not reported	Institutional care, neglect; record review	Buccal	Institutional care exposure of < or > 6 months duration, cognitive and sociocognitive abilities	Global assessment. DMR in region related to <i>CYP2E1</i>	The extended deprivation group showed significant hypermethylation across a region associated with the CYP2E1 gene.
(Naumova et al., 2019)	Cross-sectional of children in orphanages and those raised in biological families.	N=58	8-35 months (M=20.44 months)	65.5%	Ethnically homogenous; Eastern Slavic origin	Institutional care; assessed via record review	Blood + Buccal	Child sex, child age, blood cell-type count, duration in months of institutional care, adaptive behaviour	Global assessment. DMRs associated with MAPK14, ENO1, RB1, SOCS3, HSPA8	Institutional care exposure was associated with significant differences in methylation compared to children living with biological families.
(Yang et al., 2013) ^c	Summer research camp for school-aged, low-income children.	N=192	5-14 years (M=10.2)	42%	17% European- American 38% Hispanic 30% African- American 15% biracial	Composite score: CPA, CSA, CEA, neglect, IPV; self- and parent- report and record review	Saliva	Child race, child sex, age, number of CM types, CM severity	Global assessment. DMRs of genes: CCDC85C, FANK1, FRG1, TMED2, WNT3A SLC29A4, PTPRN, PTPRN2, NRC31	Significant differences in methylation were found in 2868 CpG sites in the maltreated group compared to the non- maltreated group.
(Weder et al., 2014)°	Summer research camp for school-aged, low-income children.	N=190	5-14 years (M=10.2)	42%	17% European- American 38% Hispanic 30% African- American, 15% biracial	Composite score: CPA, CSA, CEA, neglect, and exposure to IPV; self- and parent- report and record review	Saliva	Child age, sex and race, depression, Psychiatric diagnoses, Child behaviour, cortisol levels	Global assessment, DMRs associated with ID3, TPPP, and GRIN1, BDNF, FKBP5, NR3C1	Maltreated group evidenced significant differences in DNAm in several genes.

M.Sc.	Thesis -	T.N	elles-N	IcGee;	McMaster	University -	Neuroscience.
						,	

(Cicchetti et al., 2016) ^e	Summer research camp for school-aged, low-income children.	N=548	M=9.41	52.2%	67.7% Black 20.6% White 11.7% Biracial or other race 20.6% Latino	Composite score: CPA, CSA, CEA and neglect; record review	Saliva	Child age and sex, child race, ancestry, genotype, timing of CM	Global assessment. DMRs associated with NRC31, ALDH2, ANKK1	CM was significantly associated with hypermethylation on one site for both ALDH2 and ANKK1.
(Tyrka et al., 2015a) ^d	Cross-sectional study of children with substantiated cases of moderate to severe CM within the past six months.	N=184	3-5 years (M=50.8 months)	48.9%	22.28% white non-Hispanic 47.28% Hispanic 15.75% Black 14.67 other races	Composite score: CPA, CSA, CEA and neglect; record review and interview, parent report	Saliva	Child age, sex and race. Socioeconomic adversity, CM type and severity, contextual stress, traumatic life events, adversity composite	NRC31	One exon of the <i>NRC31</i> gene was significantly hypermethylated in the CM group.
(Parade et al., 2016) ^d	Cross-sectional study of children with substantiated cases of moderate to severe CM within the past six months.	N=171	3-5 years (M=50.3 months)	47.95%	22.81% white, non- Hispanic 47.95% Hispanic 14.62% Black 14.62% other races	Composite score CPA, CSA, CEA and neglect; record review, interview, parent report	Saliva	Child age, sex and race. Socioeconomic adversity, CM type and severity, contextual stress, traumatic life events, adversity composite, behaviour problems	NRC31	One exon of the <i>NRC31</i> gene was significantly hypermethylated in the CM group.
(Parent et al., 2017) ^d	See (Ridout et al., 2019) Measures at baseline and repeated at 6- month follow- up.	N=260	3-5 years (M=4.2 months)	47.7%	45.6% Hispanic 27.7% white non-Hispanic 16.3% Black 21.9% biracial 2.7% other races	Composite score CPA, CSA, CEA, and neglect; record review, interview, parent- report	Saliva	Child age, sex and race, number of days between baseline and follow up assessment, Socioeconomic adversity, CM type and severity, contextual stress, traumatic life events, adversity composite	NRC31	One exon of the <i>NRC31</i> gene was significantly hypermethylated in the CM group at baseline.
(Van der Knapp et al., 2014)	Data from the TRAILS prospective, longitudinal, population study of Dutch adolescents.	N=468	14-18 years (M=16.1)	49.6%	Dutch	CPA and CSA; self- report	Blood	Sex, age, smoking, traumatic youth experiences, number of exposures, stressful life events and timing, Perinatal stress	NRC31	Single and repeated exposure to CSA and repeated exposure to CPA was associated with hypermethylation at the first location on <i>NR3C1</i> . Only single exposure to CSA was associated with hypermethylation at the second location on <i>NR3C1</i> .

(Romens et al., 2015)	Cross-sectional study.	N=56	11-14 years (M=12.11)	53.6%	66% White and non- Hispanic, 30.3% Black, 3.57% White and Hispanic	CPA; record review	Blood	Child age, child sex, child race, SES	NRC31	A positive association between physical maltreatment experience and methylation of one exon of <i>NRC31</i> was found.
(Cicchetti & Handley, 2017) ^e	Summer research camp for school-aged, low-income children.	N=534	M=9.41 years	51.5%	61.2% Black 9.9% White 20.6% Latino 8.2% biracial or other race	CPA, CSA, CEA, and neglect and composite score; record review	Saliva	Child age, sex and race; timing of CM, Emotional lability- negativity; internalizing and externalizing behaviour problems	NR3C1	A positive association between CPA and methylation of one exon of <i>NRC31</i> was found. Early onset of and exposure to more CM subtypes was associated with hypermethylation of <i>NR3C1</i> .
(Hecker et al., 2016)	Part of a larger research project, cross-sectional investigation of Tanzanian school children.	N=60	9-15 years (M=11.50)	47%	Tanzanian	CPA and CEA; composite – scores used to separate high- and low- exposure groups; structured interviews	Saliva + blood	Group assignment, child sex, mental health	NRC31, POMC, CRH, & AVP	The high-exposure group evidenced significant differential methylation in the <i>POMC</i> gene. No clear differences in methylation were found for the remaining genes.
(Tyrka et al., 2015b) ^d	Comparison study of children with substantiated cases of moderate to severe CM within the past six months.	N=174	3-5 years (M=49.87 months)	48.2%	21.8% White non-Hispanic 46.5% Hispanic, 16.7% Black 14.9% other races	Composite score: CPA, CSA, CEA and neglect; record review, interview, parent- report	Saliva	Child age, sex and race. Socioeconomic adversity, CM type and severity, genotype, contextual stress, traumatic life events, adversity composite	<i>FKBP5</i> and <i>NRC31</i>	Children exposed to CM evidenced significant hypomethylation at two sites of the <i>FKBP5</i> gene.
(Non et al., 2016) ^a	BEIP, longitudinal RCT. Percent time in care was measured at multiple times.	N=117	M=12.5 years	51%	63% Romanian 27% Roma 9% other	Institutional care; record review	Buccal	Age at swab collection, child sex, ethnicity, Tanner pubertal stage, percent time in institutional care	FKBP5 and SLC6A4	In both genes, percent time in institutional care was negatively associated with DNAm at specific sites.
(Fujisawa et al., 2019)	Comparison study of children with and without child welfare documentation.	N=85	6-20 years (M=12.9)	64.71%	Japanese	Institutional care sample; self-report	Saliva	Child age and sex, CM type, number of types, CM duration, years since CM, psychiatric symptoms, IQ	OXTR	At two CpG sites on the OXTR gene, the CM group showed hypermethylation compared to controls.

			_				I - · ·			
(Marini et al., 2020) ^b	Data from the ALSPAC.	N=973	7-year timepoint	49.8%	97.2% white	CPA, CSA and CEA; parent- report	Blood	Adversity exposure, child race/ethnicity, number of births in the pregnancy, number of previous pregnancies, maternal marital status, highest level of maternal education, age, smoking during pregnancy, child birthweight, parental home ownership, parent job status	Horvath and Hannum epigenetic clocks	Exposure to CSA or CPA in the sensitive period at 3.5 years was associated with epigenetic age acceleration using Hannum's epigenetic clock model. When stratified for sex, any type of abuse exposure was associated with increased epigenetic age in girls.
(Tang et al., 2020) ^b	Data from the ALSPAC.	N=974	Range not provided, M=17.13	48.7%	97.2% white**	CPA, CSA, CEA, neglect and exposure to IPV; parent- report	Blood	Other ACEs including bullying, parent mental health problems, parent convicted, parental separation, household substance abuse; ACE count, age, morning plasma cortisol	Horvath epigenetic clock	Exposure to CEA or CPA before age 14 was associated with Horvath accelerated aging at age 17 in maltreated girls but not in boys.

^aData from the Bucharest Early Intervention Project; ^bData from the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children (ALSPAC); ^cData from (Kaufman et al., 2006); ^dData from same group of participants (Tyrka, 2015a); ^eData from same group of participants (Cicchetti et al., 2016); *sample details not reported in article, pulled from detailed description of original sample (Zeanah et al., 2013), **sample details not reported in the article, pulled from supplementary detailed description of ALSPAC participants (Marini et al., 2020).

Note: CPA: child physical abuse; CSA: child sexual abuse; CEA: child emotional abuse; IPV: intimate partner violence; BEIP: Bucharest Early Intervention Project; DMR: differentially methylated regions; ACEs: Adverse Childhood Experiences; FSIQ: Full Scale Intelligence Quotient; SES: Socioeconomic status; BMI: Body Mass Index

Discussion

Taken together, findings from this systematic review broadly indicate that CM is associated with changes to both TL and DNAm in children and youth, however, specific associations were varied. Sex, race, and CM timing were among characteristics that were differently associated with biomarker changes. In assessing the sample characteristics and methodology, we can point to several aspects that may influence study findings, lending heterogeneity to the overall findings.

Included studies featured a variety of CM definitions that included one or more subtypes. Within studies that examined multiple CM types, CM types often co-occurred. The distribution of CM types experienced was not always comparable between studies, even if both studies assessed similar subtypes overall. An additional consideration is that CM measurement tools were not standardized across inclusions. While some investigations used self- and parent report measures, others examined child welfare documentation to assess CM. Because CM is often perpetrated by family members, it is possible that parent-report measures may provide biased accounts. Similarly, self-report measures may not provide accurate reports for several reasons, including lack of detailed memory and hesitancy to divulge information (McKinney et al., 2009). On the other hand, not all maltreated children become involved with child welfare services, thus reliance on substantiated cases may disproportionately sample certain types or severity of CM (McKinney et al., 2009).

Between studies, factors such as BMI were inconsistently reported, despite being demonstrably associated with epigenetic changes (Simpkin et al., 2016). Similarly, few studies reported on pre-existing physical and psychological diagnoses. Assessment of other adversities and contextual stressors differed significantly between investigations, both of which could

influence associations. Race and ethnicity were differently associated with biomarker changes in some studies and were inconsistently evaluated, although an assessment of one or the other was present in most studies. Inconsistencies in reporting race/ethnicity raises the complex, but important consideration of how researchers can better assess race moving forward; and particularly where lived experience, socioeconomic status and stress that may be conferred by systemic barriers, discrimination and treatment may exert effects on findings, rather than treating race exclusively as a biological factor.

Differences in recency of CM exposure, temporal proximity of exposure to biomeasure, and age at sample collection may have also affected findings. Frenck and colleagues report a rapid period of telomere shortening as part of normal development up to age 3, followed by a period of relative stability until adulthood (Frenck et al., 1998). Considering the age ranges of studies that found positive associations between CM and TL, a deeper understanding of potential lengthening or maintenance mechanisms during this stable period is needed (Ridout et al., 2019). Although we limited our inclusions to populations under 18, investigating a narrower age range might also provide more consistent findings, as oversampling of some age groups within wide age ranges could skew results. Overall, DNAm findings were more consistent, which may in part be explained by the larger pool of research available.

Resilience

While many differences in findings may be explained by one or more of the aforementioned factors, we must also consider aspects of biology and environment that may confer resilience to biological embedding. Clarifying protective factors is a critical component of breaking the cycle of CM. Bronfenbrenner's bioecological model of child development provides a nested framework for understanding the impact of various factors on development

(Bronfenbrenner & Morris, 2006). Below we outline resilience factors that may influence the impact of CM exposure on biomarkers at various levels of the model.

At the center of the model is the individual. Individual characteristics that emerged as potential resilience factors in the association between CM exposure and biomarker changes include sex, age, and acute stress. Multiple studies indicated effects in one sex but not the other, and/or in both sexes but at different time points with varying results (see study specific findings above and in Table 2). It is possible that different CM types interact with sex to exert differing effects on biomarkers. It is similarly conceivable that biological differences modulate effects of CM on biomarker processes. Marini et al. (2020) found that girls were, on average, epigenetically older than boys. Conversely, estrogen has been linked with increased telomerase activity, and there is evidence to suggest that women have longer telomeres than men (Kyo et al., 1999; Ridout et al., 2019). This may confer resilience to TL changes in girls who have begun to go through puberty. Further investigation into potential sex-related resilience effects, at various developmental timepoints is needed. Lastly, acute stress has been linked to an upregulation in telomerase activity which acts to lengthen telomeres, potentially mitigating shortening effects (Ridout et al., 2019). This reflects the three-hit concept of vulnerability and resilience that suggests genetic predisposition interacts with early environment to produce phenotypes in which in turn react with later life environments to confer vulnerability or resilience to negative outcomes (Daskalakis et al., 2013)

Microsystem effects on child development refer to aspects outside the individual that they interact with directly, including family, friends, school, and home (Bronfenbrenner & Morris, 2006). Asok et al. (2013), found significant moderating effects of responsive parenting on telomere shortening. Preliminary evidence from a randomized control trial examining an

evidence-based intervention program geared toward improving parent-child relationships, biological, and behavioural outcomes in families involved within Child Protective Services, supports the importance of parental responsiveness. Participants randomized to the intervention, showed differential methylation in whole-genome DNAm compared to the control group postintervention (Hoye et al., 2020). Together, these findings support sensitive parenting and supportive parent-child relationships as a protective factor.

Microsystem aspects interact to make up the mesosystem (Bronfenbrenner & Morris, 2006). At this level, effects might include interactions between parents and social workers or parents and siblings. Although no clear mesosystemic resilience effects emerged, based on the complexity of biological and environmental interactions in child development, it is likely that positive influences exist at this level. Exosystemic factors include aspects such as media, community services, parents' workplace, and child's school (Bronfenbrenner & Morris, 2006). We found two potential resilience factors at this level. First, using data from the ALSPAC, Marini et al. (2020) noted less accelerated epigenetic aging in children of married mothers, with more education and from higher SES. This finding was supported by evidence of a buffering effect of maternal education on TL in maltreated boys (Asok et al., 2013). Second, Ridout et al. (2019) investigated the possibility that TL could be impacted by utilization of social or psychological services. They included instances of outpatient mental health treatment, home based services, and services provided by the local school department in their assessment. Although not significantly, there was evidence that TL was positively associated with service utilization (Ridout et al., 2019).

Cultural values and norms make up the macrosystem level (Bronfenbrenner & Morris, 2006). Seif and colleagues (2013) proposed that some forms of physical and emotional abuse

may be viewed as "disciplinary" rather than abusive, and thus socially acceptable, garnering a different, potentially less sensitive, response than experience of another CM type such as sexual abuse. However, consistently in both biomarkers, physical abuse was associated with biological changes, even when considered the cultural norm (Hecker et al., 2016). While this is not a resilience factor, it is a cultural factor that may be increasing risk of negative outcomes. Additionally, Marini et al. (2020) found that children exposed to any adversity type were more likely to be non-white and from low socioeconomic backgrounds. Though we are only discussing resilience factors here, a focus on how we respond to different CM types and increasing support for children experiencing all types of CM may promote positive outcomes and reduce impact long term. Any work toward changing outcomes for maltreated children should examine and address the systemic challenges embedded in our cultural values and norms that make some children more likely to be maltreated in the first place.

Conclusion

Epel and Lithgow (2014) explain the importance of a common knowledge base and taxonomy in understanding the ways in which stress biology influences accelerated aging mechanisms. While we can reasonably conclude that CM is associated with changes in both biomarkers, it seems clear that a similar need is present here in order to elucidate the features of these associations. CM is implicated in significant negative downstream physical and mental health effects (Butchart et al., 2006). A clearer understanding of CM-biomarker associations may provide valuable insight into potential connecting mechanisms. Given that effects of CM were most significant when CM types were assessed cumulatively (Shalev et al., 2013), it follows that efforts to minimize even some CM exposure may have positive downstream effects on child outcomes. Further exploration of factors that may confer resilience and a deeper understanding

of when they are most effective and for whom they are most impactful, would support existing and future intervention development and more positive outcomes for children and families.

References

- *Asok, A., Bernard, K., Roth, T. L., Rosen, J. B., & Dozier, M. (2013). Parental responsiveness moderates the association between early-life stress and reduced telomere length. *Development and psychopathology*, 25(3), 577-585. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0954579413000011
- Berens, A. E., Jensen, S. K. G., & Nelson, C. A., 3rd. (2017). Biological embedding of childhood adversity: from physiological mechanisms to clinical implications. *BMC Med*, 15(1), 135. doi:10.1186/s12916-017-0895-4
- Bronfenbrenner, U., & Morris, P. A. (2006). *The Bioecological Model of Human Development*. In R. M. Lerner & W. Damon (Eds.), *Handbook of Child Psychology: Theoretical models of human development* (p. 793–828). John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Butchart A, Phinney Harvey A, Kahane T, Mian M, & Furniss T. (2006). Preventing child maltreatment: a guide to action and generating evidence. Geneva: World Health Organization, retrieved from

http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2006/9241594365_eng.pdf

- Cecil, C. A. M., Zhang, Y., & Nolte, T. (2020). Childhood maltreatment and DNA methylation:
 A systematic review. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev, 112*, 392-409.
 doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2020.02.019
- *Cicchetti, D., & Handley, E. D. (2017). Methylation of the glucocorticoid receptor gene, nuclear receptor subfamily 3, group C, member 1 (NR3C1), in maltreated and nonmaltreated children: Associations with behavioral undercontrol, emotional lability/negativity, and externalizing and internalizing symptoms. *Development and psychopathology, 29*(5), 1795-1806. doi:<u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0954579417001407</u>

- *Cicchetti, D., Hetzel, S., Rogosch, F. A., Handley, E. D., & Toth, S. L. (2016). An investigation of child maltreatment and epigenetic mechanisms of mental and physical health risk. *Development and psychopathology, 28*(4pt2), 1305-1317. Retrieved from <u>http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=med13&NEWS=N&A</u> <u>N=27691979</u>
- Cicchetti, D., & Toth, S. L. (2005). Child maltreatment. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol*, *1*, 409-438. doi:10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.1.102803.144029
- Colich, N. L., Rosen, M. L., Williams, E. S., & McLaughlin, K. A. (2020). Biological aging in childhood and adolescence following experiences of threat and deprivation: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychol Bull, 146*(9), 721-764. doi:10.1037/bul0000270
- Daskalakis, N. P., Bagot, R. C., Parker, K. J., Vinkers, C. H., & de Kloet, E. R. (2013). The three-hit concept of vulnerability and resilience: toward understanding adaptation to early-life adversity outcome. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *38*(9), 1858-1873. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2013.06.008
- *Drury, S. S., Mabile, E., Brett, Z. H., Esteves, K., Jones, E., Shirtcliff, E. A., & Theall, K. P. (2014). The association of telomere length with family violence and disruption. *Pediatrics*, 134(1), e128-e137. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1542/peds.2013-3415</u>
- *Drury, S. S., Theall, K., Gleason, M. M., Smyke, A. T., De Vivo, I., Wong, J. Y. Y., ... Nelson, C. A. (2012). Telomere length and early severe social deprivation: Linking early adversity and cellular aging. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 17(7), 719-727. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/mp.2011.53

- Epel, E. S., & Lithgow, G. J. (2014). Stress biology and aging mechanisms: toward understanding the deep connection between adaptation to stress and longevity. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 69 Suppl 1*, S10-16. doi:10.1093/gerona/glu055
- Frenck, R. W., Jr., Blackburn, E. H., & Shannon, K. M. (1998). The rate of telomere sequence loss in human leukocytes varies with age. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 95(10), 5607-5610. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.10.5607
- *Fujisawa, T. X., Nishitani, S., Takiguchi, S., Shimada, K., Smith, A. K., & Tomoda, A. (2019). Oxytocin receptor DNA methylation and alterations of brain volumes in maltreated children. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 44(12), 2045-2053.

doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41386-019-0414-8</u>

- Hamby, S., Finkelhor, D., Turner, H., & Ormrod, R. (2010). The overlap of witnessing partner violence with child maltreatment and other victimizations in a nationally representative survey of youth. *Child Abuse Negl*, 34(10), 734-741. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2010.03.001
- Hannum, G., Guinney, J., Zhao, L., Zhang, L., Hughes, G., Sadda, S., . . . Zhang, K. (2013).
 Genome-wide methylation profiles reveal quantitative views of human aging rates. *Mol Cell*, 49(2), 359-367. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2012.10.016
- *Hecker, T., Radtke, K. M., Hermenau, K., Papassotiropoulos, A., & Elbert, T. (2016). Associations among child abuse, mental health, and epigenetic modifications in the proopiomelanocortin gene (POMC): A study with children in Tanzania. *Development and psychopathology, 28*(4pt2), 1401-1412. Retrieved from <u>http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=med13&NEWS=N&A</u> N=26753719

- Horvath, S., & Raj, K. (2018). DNA methylation-based biomarkers and the epigenetic clock theory of ageing. *Nat Rev Genet, 19*(6), 371-384. doi:10.1038/s41576-018-0004-3
- Hoye, J. R., Cheishvili, D., Yarger, H. A., Roth, T. L., Szyf, M., & Dozier, M. (2020).
 Preliminary indications that the Attachment and Biobehavioral Catch-up Intervention alters DNA methylation in maltreated children. *Dev Psychopathol, 32*(4), 1486-1494. doi:10.1017/S0954579419001421
- Hughes, K., Bellis, M. A., Hardcastle, K. A., Sethi, D., Butchart, A., Mikton, C., . . . Dunne, M.
 P. (2017). The effect of multiple adverse childhood experiences on health: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Public Health*, 2(8), e356-e366. doi:10.1016/S2468-2667(17)30118-4
- *Humphreys, K. L., Esteves, K., Zeanah, C. H., Fox, N. A., Nelson, C. A., 3rd, & Drury, S. S. (2016). Accelerated telomere shortening: Tracking the lasting impact of early institutional care at the cellular level. *Psychiatry Res, 246*, 95-100. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2016.09.023
- Kaufman, J., Yang, B. Z., Douglas-Palumberi, H., Grasso, D., Lipschitz, D., Houshyar, S., . . .
 Gelernter, J. (2006). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor-5-HTTLPR gene interactions and environmental modifiers of depression in children. *Biol Psychiatry*, *59*(8), 673-680. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.10.026
- *Kumsta, R., Marzi, S. J., Viana, J., Dempster, E. L., Crawford, B., Rutter, M., . . . Sonuga-Barke, E. J. S. (2016). Severe psychosocial deprivation in early childhood is associated with increased DNA methylation across a region spanning the transcription start site of CYP2E1. *Translational Psychiatry*, 6(6), e830. doi:<u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/tp.2016.95</u>

- Kyo, S., Takakura, M., Kanaya, T., Zhuo, W., Fujimoto, K., Nishio, Y., . . . Inoue, M. (1999). Estrogen activates telomerase. *Cancer Res*, 59(23), 5917-5921. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10606235</u>
- *Marini, S., Davis, K. A., Soare, T. W., Zhu, Y., Suderman, M. J., Simpkin, A. J., . . . Dunn, E. C. (2020). Adversity exposure during sensitive periods predicts accelerated epigenetic aging in children. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *113*, 104484. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2019.104484
- McKinney, C. M., Harris, T. R., & Caetano, R. (2009). Reliability of self-reported childhood physical abuse by adults and factors predictive of inconsistent reporting. *Violence Vict*, 24(5), 653-668. doi:10.1891/0886-6708.24.5.653
- *Naumova, O. Y., Rychkov, S. Y., Kornilov, S. A., Odintsova, V. V., Anikina, V. O., Solodunova, M. Y., . . . Grigorenko, E. L. (2019). Effects of early social deprivation on epigenetic statuses and adaptive behavior of young children: A study based on a cohort of institutionalized infants and toddlers. *PLoS ONE*, *14*(3), e0214285. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0214285</u>
- *Non, A. L., Hollister, B. M., Humphreys, K. L., Childebayeva, A., Esteves, K., Zeanah, C. H., . . Drury, S. S. (2016). DNA methylation at stress-related genes is associated with exposure to early life institutionalization. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology*, *161*(1), 84-93. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.23010</u>
- *Parade, S. H., Ridout, K. K., Seifer, R., Armstrong, D. A., Marsit, C. J., McWilliams, M. A., & Tyrka, A. R. (2016). Methylation of the Glucocorticoid Receptor Gene Promoter in Preschoolers: Links With Internalizing Behavior Problems. *Child development*, 87(1), 86-97. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12484</u>

*Parent, J., Parade, S. H., Laumann, L. E., Ridout, K. K., Yang, B.-Z., Marsit, C. J., ... Tyrka,
A. R. (2017). Dynamic stress-related epigenetic regulation of the glucocorticoid receptor gene promoter during early development: The role of child maltreatment. *Development and psychopathology*, 29(5), 1635-1648.

doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0954579417001298

- Ridout, K. K., Levandowski, M., Ridout, S. J., Gantz, L., Goonan, K., Palermo, D., . . . Tyrka, A.
 R. (2018). Early life adversity and telomere length: a meta-analysis. *Mol Psychiatry*, 23(4), 858-871. doi:10.1038/mp.2017.26
- *Ridout, K. K., Parade, S. H., Kao, H. T., Magnan, S., Seifer, R., Porton, B., . . . Tyrka, A. R. (2019). Childhood maltreatment, behavioral adjustment, and molecular markers of cellular aging in preschool-aged children: A cohort study. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *107*, 261-269. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2019.05.015</u>
- *Romens, S. E., McDonald, J., Svaren, J., & Pollak, S. D. (2015). Associations between early life stress and gene methylation in children. *Child development*, 86(1), 303-309. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12270</u>
- *Seif, E. A., Diab, I. H., Ibrahim, S. A., Hussein, H. A., & Ghitani, S. A. (2019). Association between different parameters of child maltreatment and global DNA methylation. *Alexandria Journal of Medicine*, 55(1), 82-88.

doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/20905068.2019.1681178</u>

*Shalev, I., Moffitt, T. E., Sugden, K., Williams, B., Houts, R. M., Danese, A., . . . Caspi, A. (2013). Exposure to violence during childhood is associated with telomere erosion from 5 to 10 years of age: a longitudinal study. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 18(5), 576-581. doi:<u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/mp.2012.32</u>

- Simpkin, A. J., Hemani, G., Suderman, M., Gaunt, T. R., Lyttleton, O., McArdle, W. L., . . . Smith, G. D. (2016). Prenatal and early life influences on epigenetic age in children: a study of mother-offspring pairs from two cohort studies. *Hum Mol Genet*, 25(1), 191-201. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddv456
- Stoltenborgh, M., Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J., Alink, L. R., & Van IJzendoorn, M. H. (2014). The prevalence of child maltreatment across the globe: Review of a series of metaanalyses. *Child Abuse Review*, 24(1), 37-50. doi:10.1002/car.2353
- *Tang, R., Howe, L. D., Suderman, M., Relton, C. L., Crawford, A. A., & Houtepen, L. C. (2020). Adverse childhood experiences, DNA methylation age acceleration, and cortisol in UK children: A prospective population-based cohort study. *Clinical Epigenetics, 12*(1), 55. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s13148-020-00844-2</u>
- *Tyrka, A. R., Parade, S. H., Eslinger, N. M., Marsit, C. J., Lesseur, C., Armstrong, D. A., ... Seifer, R. (2015). Methylation of exons 1D, 1F, and 1H of the glucocorticoid receptor gene promoter and exposure to adversity in preschool-aged children. *Development and psychopathology*, 27(2), 577-585. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0954579415000176</u>
- *Tyrka, A. R., Ridout, K. K., Parade, S. H., Paquette, A., Marsit, C. J., & Seifer, R. (2015). Childhood maltreatment and methylation of FK506 binding protein 5 gene (FKBP5). *Development and psychopathology, 27*(4), 1637-1645. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0954579415000991
- *Van der Knaap, L. J., Riese, H., Hudziak, J. J., Verbiest, M. M. P. J., Verhulst, F. C., Oldehinkel, A. J., & Van Oort, F. V. A. (2014). Glucocorticoid receptor gene (NR3C1) methylation following stressful events between birth and adolescence. the TRAILS study. *Translational Psychiatry*, 4, e381. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/tp.2014.22</u>

- *Wade, M., Fox, N. A., Zeanah, C. H., Nelson, C. A., & Drury, S. S. (2020). Telomere Length and Psychopathology: Specificity and Direction of Effects Within the Bucharest Early Intervention Project. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 59(1), 140. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2019.02.013
- *Weder, N., Zhang, H., Jensen, K., Yang, B. Z., Simen, A., Jackowski, A., . . . Kaufman, J. (2014). Child abuse, depression, and methylation in genes involved with stress, neural plasticity, and brain circuitry. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 53(4), 417-424.e415. doi:<u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2013.12.025</u>
- *Xavier, G., Spindola, L. M., Ota, V. K., Carvalho, C. M., Maurya, P. K., Tempaku, P. F., . . .
 Belangero, S. I. (2018). Effect of male-specific childhood trauma on telomere length.
 Journal of psychiatric research, 107, 104-109.

doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2018.10.012

*Yang, B. Z., Zhang, H., Ge, W., Weder, N., Douglas-Palumberi, H., Perepletchikova, F., ... Kaufman, J. (2013). Child abuse and epigenetic mechanisms of disease risk. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 44(2), 101-107.

doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2012.10.012</u>

Zeanah, C. H., Nelson, C. A., Fox, N. A., Smyke, A. T., Marshall, P., Parker, S. W., & Koga, S. (2003). Designing research to study the effects of institutionalization on brain and behavioral development: the Bucharest Early Intervention Project. *Dev Psychopathol, 15*(4), 885-907. doi:10.1017/s0954579403000452

Appendix

Appendix A: Gene Functions and Associations

Gene	Functions and Associations
NR3C1	Encodes glucocorticoid receptor protein that binds the stress hormone cortisol.
	Regulatory role in stress response via the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis. Also
	involved in regulating inflammation, development, metabolism, and immune
	function (Tyrka et al., 2015a; Weizmann Institute of Science (WIS), n.d.).
FKBP5	Modulates stress response via glucocorticoid receptor activity. Associated with
	mood disorders. Regulatory role in inflammation and immune function (Tyrka et
	al., 2015b; O'Leary et al., 2013).
CYP2E1	Involved in fatty acid metabolism (Kumsta et al., 2016; WIS, n.d.).
MAPK14	Immune function: Encoded protein integrates cellular signals. Involved in
	proliferation, differentiation, and transcription (Naumova et al., 2019; WIS, n.d.)
GNB1	Immune function: Encodes G-proteins important for cellular signaling (Naumova et al., 2019; WIS, n.d.).
ENO1	Immune function: Encodes protein involved in glucose metabolism and may act as
	a tumor suppressor (Naumova et al., 2019; WIS, n.d.).
RB1	Immune function: Encodes tumor-suppressor protein. Involved in regulation of
	apoptosis, DNA replication, and differentiation (Naumova et al., 2019; WIS, n.d.).
SOCS3	Immune function and allergic response (Naumova et al., 2019; WIS, n.d.).
HSPA8	Immune function, cancer, neurodegenerative diseases and aging. Involved in
	signaling, apoptosis, cell growth and differentiation. (Naumova et al., 2019; Mayer
	et al., 2005)
CCDC85C	Encodes protein that may be involved in cell-cell adhesion and cortical/neural development (Yang et al., 2013; WIS, n.d.)
FANK1	May be involved in regulation of apoptosis (Yang et al., 2013; WIS, n.d.).
FRG1	Associated with aspects of muscle function (Yang et al., 2013; WIS, n.d.).
TMED2	Encodes protein that may be involved in aspects of cellular transport (Yang et al., 2013; WIS, n.d.).
WNT3A	Associated with embryonic and neural development. Plays a role in cell
	differentiation, proliferation and tumour growth (Yang et al., 2013; WIS, n.d.).
PTPRN	Regulates numerous cellular processes such as growth, differentiation and division
	(Yang et al., 2013; WIS, n.d.).
SLC29A4	Encodes protein involved in controlling length and intensity of monoamine
	(serotonin, dopamine, norepinephrine) signaling (Yang et al., 2013; WIS, n.d.).
PTPRN2	Involved in normative accumulation and secretion of monoamines in the brain,
	luteinizing hormone (LH) and follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) in the pituitary
	gland of females, and insulin in pancreatic islet cells (Yang et al., 2013; WIS, n.d.).
ID3	Involved in stress response. Encodes a protein that inhibits DNA binding, thus
	regulating transcription. Involved in various cellular processes such as growth,
	senescence, differentiation, apoptosis, and blood vessel formation (Weder et al.,
	2014; W15, n.d.).
IPPP	Encodes tubulin polymerization promoting protein. Associated with schizophrenia
	2014: WIS n d)
GRINI	2014, W10, II.U.J. Encodes protein building block of recentors in the glutamate recentor family. Plays
UMIVI	an important role in synaptic plasticity (Weder et al., 2014: WIS, n.d.).

BDNF	Encodes protein that is implicated in neuronal health and differentiation. Active in brain areas associated with learning, memory, and cognition (Weder et al., 2014; WIS, n.d.).
ALDH1,	Involved in alcohol metabolism; associated with dopamine DRD2 gene which
ALDH2	plays an important role in a number of processes including movement,
	cognition, mood and motivation (Cicchetti et al., 2016; WIS, n.d.)
РОМС	HPA axis gene. Encodes proteins that are precursors to several peptide hormones
	involved in appetite regulation, sexual behavior, movement of melanin, emotion,
	attachment, motivation, stress, pain, control of food intake, and glucocorticoid
	secretion (Hecker et al., 2016; WIS, n.d.)
CRH	HPA axis gene. Encodes protein that is processed to produce hormone implicated
	in stress response (Hecker et al., 2016; WIS, n.d.).
AVP	HPA axis gene. Encodes protein that acts on kidney to regulate extracellular fluid
	volume, and on blood vessels as a factor in vasoconstriction (Hecker et al., 2016;
	WIS, n.d.).
SLC6A4	Stress-related. Involved in serotonin transport. (Non et al., 2016; WIS, n.d.)
OXTR	Encodes oxytocin receptors. Implicated in social interactions, bonding, maternal
	behaviour, stress and anxiety. (Fujisawa et al., 2019; Feldman et al., 2010)

Article	Socioeconomic Status Measure(s)
Asok et al., 2013	Income
Drury et al., 2014	Maternal education, household monthly income
Marini et al., 2020	Parent job status, maternal education, and home ownership.
Ridout et al., 2019	Qualification for public assistance; composite score
	encompassing parental education \leq high school degree,
	parental unemployment, and single parenthood
Shalev et al., 2013	Composite score encompassing household income, parents' highest education and parents' highest occupational grade
Cicchetti et al., 2016;	Low-income sample
Cicchetti and Handley, 2017	
Naumova et al., 2019	Institutional Care Group - 75% of children in institutional
	care were abandoned due to socio-economic challenged;
	Biological families group – socioeconomic status
	characterized as low or low-middle income
Parade et al., 2016	Parental education, parental employment status,
	qualification for public assistance
D 1. 2017	
Parent et al., 2017	Parental education, parental employment status, single
	parent status, qualification for public assistance
Tyrka at al. 2015a & 2015b	Qualification for public assistance: composite score
1 y1Ka et al., 2015a & 20150	$\frac{1}{2}$
	\sim might school degree,
Romens et al 2015	Hollingshead Four-Factor Index of Socioeconomic Status -
	composite score of parents' marital status employment
	status educational attainment and occupational prestige
	(Hollingshead, 1975)
Tang et al., 2020	Household's highest socioeconomic class, mother's highest
	education qualification
Van der Knapp et al., 2014	Controlled for between the two groups

Appendix B: Socioeconomic Status Measures

The remaining papers did not report on SES characteristics. Some parent studies collected additional SES information. In the case of articles using data from larger studies, they are only included here if they described SES information in their report.

Appendix References

- Feldman R, Gordon I, Zagoory-Sharon O. (2010). Maternal and paternal plasma, salivary, and urinary oxytocin and parent-infant synchrony: Considering stress and affiliation components of human bonding. *Developmental Science*. 14(4), 752–761. Doi: 10.1111/j.1467-7687.2010.01021.x
- Hollingshead, A. (1975). *Four-factor index of social status* [Unpublished Manuscript]. New Haven, CT: Yale University.
- Mayer, M.P., Bukau, B. (2005). HSP70 chaperones: Cellular functions and molecular mechanism. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 62(6), 670-684. Doi: 10.1007/s00018-004-4464-6
- O'Leary, J.C., Zhang, B., Koren, J., Blair, L., & Ca, D. (2013). The Role of FKBP5 in Mood
 Disorders: Action of FKBP5 on Steroid Hormone Receptors Leads to Questions About its
 Evolutionary Importance. CNS & Neurological Disorders Drug Targets, 12(8), 11571162. Doi: 10.2174/187152731131200121
- Weizmann Institute of Science. (n.d.). ALDH1 Gene. In *GeneCards: The human gene database*. https://www.genecards.org/cgi-bin/carddisp.pl?gene=ALDH1A1&keywords=Aldh1
- Weizmann Institute of Science. (n.d.). ALDH2 Gene. In *GeneCards: The human gene database*. https://www.genecards.org/cgi-bin/carddisp.pl?gene=ALDH2&keywords=Aldh1
- Weizmann Institute of Science. (n.d.). AVP Gene. In *GeneCards: The human gene database.* <u>https://www.genecards.org/cgi-bin/carddisp.pl?gene=AVP&keywords=avp</u>
- Weizmann Institute of Science. (n.d.). BDNF Gene. In *GeneCards: The human gene database*. <u>https://www.genecards.org/cgi-bin/carddisp.pl?gene=BDNF&keywords=BDNF</u>

- Weizmann Institute of Science. (n.d.). CCDC85C Gene. In GeneCards: The human gene database.https://www.genecards.org/cgibin/carddisp.pl?gene=CCDC85C&keywords=C CDC85C
- Weizmann Institute of Science. (n.d.). CRH Gene. In *GeneCards: The human gene database*. <u>https://www.genecards.org/cgi-bin/carddisp.pl?gene=CRH&keywords=crh</u>
- Weizmann Institute of Science. (n.d.). CYP2E1 Gene. In *GeneCards: The human gene database*. <u>https://www.genecards.org/cgi-bin/carddisp.pl?gene=CYP2E1&keywords=cyp2e1</u>
- Weizmann Institute of Science. (n.d.). ENO1 Gene. In *GeneCards: The human gene database*. <u>https://www.genecards.org/cgi-bin/carddisp.pl?gene=ENO1&keywords=eno1</u>
- Weizmann Institute of Science. (n.d.). FANK1 Gene. In *GeneCards: The human gene database*. https://www.genecards.org/cgi-bin/carddisp.pl?gene=FANK1&keywords=FANK1
- Weizmann Institute of Science. (n.d.). FRG1 Gene. In *GeneCards: The human gene database.* https://www.genecards.org/cgi-bin/carddisp.pl?gene=FRG1
- Weizmann Institute of Science. (n.d.). GNB1 Gene. In *GeneCards: The human gene database*. <u>https://www.genecards.org/cgi-bin/carddisp.pl?gene=GNB1&keywords=gnb1</u>
- Weizmann Institute of Science. (n.d.). GRIN1 Gene. In *GeneCards: The human gene database*. <u>https://www.genecards.org/cgi-bin/carddisp.pl?gene=GRIN1&keywords=GRin1</u>
- Weizmann Institute of Science. (n.d.). ID3 Gene. In *GeneCards: The human gene database*. <u>https://www.genecards.org/cgi-bin/carddisp.pl?gene=ID3&keywords=id3</u>

Weizmann Institute of Science. (n.d.). MAPK14 Gene. In GeneCards: The human gene
database. https://www.genecards.org/cgi
bin/carddisp.pl?gene=MAPK14&keywords=mapk14

Weizmann Institute of Science. (n.d.). NR3C1 Gene. In *GeneCards: The human gene database*. <u>https://www.genecards.org/cgi-bin/carddisp.pl?gene=NR3C1&keywords=nr3c1</u>

Weizmann Institute of Science. (n.d.). POMC Gene. In GeneCards: The human gene database.

https://www.genecards.org/cgi-bin/carddisp.pl?gene=POMC&keywords=pomc

Weizmann Institute of Science. (n.d.). PTPRN Gene. In GeneCards: The human gene database.

https://www.genecards.org/cgi-bin/carddisp.pl?gene=PTPRN&keywords=ptprn

Weizmann Institute of Science. (n.d.). PTPRN2 Gene. In GeneCards:

https://www.genecards.org/cgi-bin/carddisp.pl?gene=PTPRN2&keywords=ptprn2

Weizmann Institute of Science. (n.d.). RB1 Gene. In GeneCards: The human gene database.

https://www.genecards.org/cgi-bin/carddisp.pl?gene=RB1&keywords=RB1

Weizmann Institute of Science. (n.d.). SLC29A4 Gene. In *GeneCards: The human gene* database.https://www.genecards.org/cgi-bin/carddisp.pl?gene=SLC29A4

Weizmann Institute of Science. (n.d.). SLC6A4 Gene. In GeneCards: The human gene database. https://www.genecards.org/cgi-bin/carddisp.pl?gene=SLC6A4&keywords=slc6a4

Weizmann Institute of Science. (n.d.). SOCS3 Gene. In *GeneCards: The human gene database*. https://www.genecards.org/cgi-bin/carddisp.pl?gene=SOCS3&keywords=socs3

Weizmann Institute of Science. (n.d.). TMED2 Gene. In *GeneCards: The human gene database*. https://www.genecards.org/cgi-bin/carddisp.pl?gene=TMED2&keywords=TMED2

Weizmann Institute of Science. (n.d.). TPPP Gene. In *GeneCards: The human gene database.* https://www.genecards.org/cgi-bin/carddisp.pl?gene=TPPP&keywords=tppp

Weizmann Institute of Science. (n.d.). WNT3A Gene. In *GeneCards: The human gene database*. <u>https://www.genecards.org/cgi-bin/carddisp.pl?gene=WNT3A&keywords=wnt3a</u>

Note: if listed in primary reference list, appendix references not duplicated here